IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	SID 3. WHITE	
	CED 20 1090	A

SEP **29 1909**

RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH, Appellant,	}	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
VS .)	CASE NO. 74,083
STATE OF FLORIDA,	}	
Appellee.	Ś	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar # 249238 112 Orange Avenue - Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by indictment with the offenses of first degree murder (either through premeditation or during the course of a robbery and/or sexual battery), armed robbery (with a knife or a ligature), sexual battery with a deadly weapon or use of force likely to cause serious personal injury, and grand theft of an automobile. (R 11-12) The defendant was arraigned and pleaded not guilty to the charges. (R 18)

The defendant filed pretrial motions seeking individual voir dire of potential jurors because of publicity surrounding the case and asking for a special verdict form for a jury determination of aggravating circumstances. (R 125-126, 129-132)

The defendant also moved to have the court declare the death penalty unconstitutional because the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, or cruel is unconstitutionally vague. (R 122-124) The motions were denied. (R 785-792)

The defendant was tried by a jury before the Honorable Robert R. Perry, Judge of the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Putnam County, Florida. (R 795) During jury voir dire, a potential juror stated in front of the entire panel that she had heard from her husband (who was acquainted with the victim) that the victim had been "brutally murdered." (R 892-893) Defense counsel's motion for mistrial and to excuse the entire jury venire was denied. (R 895-896) The trial court granted the state's motion for excusal for cause of jury venireman Hampton over the defendant's objection. (R 972-975) Miss Hampton told the prosecutor that she could consider the death penalty and could put it out of her mind during the guilt phase of the trial. (R 940-941) Later, in response to a question whether she had feelings which would preclude her from voting for the death penalty, Miss Hampton said that voting for the death penalty would be against her will and her personal standards. (R 943) Venireman Hampton told the court that Bundy's execution made her sick and that she could not rejoice in somebody being executed. (R 957-959) However, in response to a question whether she could vote for death in an extreme situation where no other response to a defendant's activities would be appropriate, she declared "I quess so." (R 958-959)

During trial, the state elicited testimony from the defendant's girlfriend that, following the incident, the defendant did not appear remorseful. (R 1150-1151) The court sustained the defendant's objections over the state's argument that the testimony went to establish premeditation. However, the court refused to grant a mistrial and indicated that a cautionary instruction would only serve to emphasize the testimony. (R 1151-1153)

Defense counsel made a motion to compel the state to elect between the two felonies alleged to support the felony murder charge. (R 1391-1392) The court denied the motion. (R 1392) The defendant also moved to reduce the sexual battery charge from "physical force likely to cause serious personal injury" to sexual battery where the victim was physically helpless to resist, arguing that the evidence showed that the victim was unconscious prior to the sexual battery and that the sexual battery was a mere afterthought and not the motive for the physical attack. (R 1401-1402) The court denied this request and indicated that it would allow the count as charged to go to the jury. (R 1402)

During jury deliberations, the jury asked whether they were required to agree that it was a premeditated murder or that it was a felony murder, or whether it was sufficient merely to find unanimously that it was a first degree murder. (R 582, 1621-1622) Defense counsel requested that the jury be instructed that they were required to unanimously agree to either

premeditated murder or to felony murder, and that if they could not agree then they would be unable to reach a verdict. (R 1622-1623) The court denied the defendant's request and, over the defendant's objection, instructed the jury to simply follow the jury verdict form (which simply stated "first degree murder as charged"). (R 1623-1624) Following this instruction, the jury found the defendant guilty of all counts, as charged. (R 583-584, 1625-1626)

During the penalty phase, the state introduced post-autopsy photographs of the victim. (R 585-591, 1652-1658)

Defense counsel objected to the photographs, arguing that they were irrelevant to the penalty phase, that they were misleading (since they showed post-mortem lividity), and overly prejudicial. (R 1651-1652, 1654) The state argued that the pictures were relevant to show heinousness and to rebut the defendant's assertion that the victim was raped while unconscious, by showing that the bruises to her legs were inflicted while she was struggling. (R 1652, 1654) The state contended that the medical examiner could circle which bruises were caused while the victim was alive. The court allowed the photographs into evidence and the medical examiner exhibited the photographs and circled

¹The state made this contention notwithstanding the fact that the medical examiner, prior to his testimony, had had to ask the prosecutor what other doctors had testified to regarding which neck wounds were made by the assailant and which were made by the treating surgeon. (R 1666-1667)

numerous bruises on the pictures during his testimony. (R 1655, 1658, 1674-1680) After the medical examiner testified that it was beyond his expertise to tell if the wounds to the victim's legs were inflicted while the victim was conscious (R 1679), and that the bruises were unlike those seen on sexual battery victims (R 1695-1696), the court indicated that it would not allow the photographs to go back to the jury room or to be exhibited again to the jury. The court took this action since the witness did not testify as the court had expected and since it felt the photos were overly prejudicial. (R 1687-1697) The court, however, denied the defendant's motion to strike the photographs. (R 1696)

The court also permitted the state to present testimony during the penalty phase as to the effect of a blood transfusion of 0 negative blood into the victim who had B positive blood. (R 1672, 1683-1684) During the guilt phase of the trial, defense counsel had argued that a contributing cause of the victim's death may have been an improper transfusion of 0 negative blood into the victim. (R 1540-1553) The state attorney attempted to argue during his closing argument that 0 negative blood was the universal donor blood, an argument for which there was no testimonial support in the record at the time of the argument. (R 1562-1564) The court refused to allow the state to make the argument during the guilt phase closing argument. (R 1563-1564) During the penalty phase, the state then presented testimony that 0 negative blood was, in fact, the universal donor and no harm

had come to the victim as a result of the transfusions. (R 1683-1685) Defense counsel argued unsuccessfully that this testimony at the penalty phase was irrelevant to any aggravating circumstances and merely made counsel appear that he had tried to mislead the jury during the guilt phase of the trial, thus depriving the defendant of the effective assistance of counsel. (R 1672, 1683-1684) Defense counsel's motion to exclude the testimony and for a mistrial were denied. (R 1672, 1683-1684)

Defense counsel objected to the jury being instructed on the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed to avoid a lawful arrest, contending that there was no evidence to establish that aggravator. (R 1766-1768) The court overruled the defendant's objection. (R 1768) When the state sought to change the aggravating factor concerning during the course of a felony from "during the course of a robbery and/or sexual battery," as the felony murder had been charged in the indictment, to simply "during the course of a sexual battery," the defendant objected. (R 1768-1772) Counsel argued that the state was merely manipulating the aggravating circumstances to enable them to obtain both "during the course of a felony" and "for pecuniary gain," without violating the prohibition against improper doubling of the same aspect into two aggravating factors. court overruled the objection. (R 1772) The defendant also renewed its objection to the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, and cruel, contending that the factor was

unconstitutionally vague, despite the state's request to further define the circumstance. (R 1773-1783)

The defendant requested a special jury instruction on non-statutory mitigating circumstances which the defendant had sought to establish. (R 592, 1792-1193) The court denied the request, indicating that it would merely give the instruction that the jury could consider any other aspect of the defendant's character. (R 1793) Defense counsel renewed his request for a special verdict form for the jury to find the aggravating circumstances, which request was denied. (R 1797-1798)

The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of eight to four. (R 599, 1850) The court adjudicated the defendant guilty of first degree murder and sentenced the defendant to death finding the following aggravating circumstances: (d) the murder was committed during the commission of a sexual battery; (e) the murder was committed for the purpose of preventing an unlawful arrest; (f) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and (h) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (R 641-644)

The court specifically rejected two statutory mitigating circumstances argued by the defendant, to-wit: (a) the defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity and (b) the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (R 644-645) The court stated further that the defendant had not proven or argued any other mitigating circumstances. (R 645) As to non-statutory mitigating

circumstances, the court rejected the factors that (1) the defendant was a crack cocaine addict and (2) the defendant never had a loving relationship with his family. The court, while finding that the defendant possessed an atypical personality disorder and that he expressed shame or remorse for his actions, ruled that these mitigating factors were entitled to only little weight. (R 645-646)

The court also adjudicated the defendant guilty of armed robbery and sexual battery with great physical force, sentencing him to guidelines sentences of nine years and twenty-seven years, respectively; said sentences to run concurrently. (R 648-652)

A notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 653) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Shortly after 7:00 a.m. on August 15, 1988, Miss Terry Sorrell, a regular customer, and Dorothy and Deborah Patillo, custodians of the store, observed the defendant, a former employee, leaving the Handy Way Store in Palatka. (R 997-1003, 1013-1016, 1022-1023) He appeared to be locking the front door and was observed going around to the rear of the store and returning to the front of the business. (R 1000-1001, 1015-1016, 1022) He was wearing a Handy Way smock. (R 1000-1001, 1015-1016) When the Patillos questioned the defendant about the whereabouts of the manager, Minnie Ruth McCollum, and about why the store was locked, the defendant told them that Ruth's car had broken down and that she had taken his car. (R 1016, 1022-1023) He indicated that he had repaired her car and was going to pick her up. (R 1016, 1022-1023) The defendant got into McCollum's car and drove off. (R 1016, 1023)

The three ladies tried the door to the store and, finding it locked, peered in through the window. (R 1003, 1017, 1024) They noticed that things inside were amiss: the security camera in the ceiling was pulled down; wires were coming out of the trash can, which had been tipped over: the area behind the counter was in disarray; and the door to the back room, normally kept open, was almost completely closed. (R 1003-1004, 1017-1018) Thinking that something was awry, the women called the sheriff's office. (R 1018, 1024)

Deputy Sheriff William Watkins arrived at the store at 7:19 a.m., and called for the store supervisor to gain entry. (R 1047-1048) Meanwhile, he searched around the outside of the store and discovered a plastic "Uzi-type" water gun behind the store. (R 1048)

The supervisor arrived, but, since she did not have keys to the store, Deputy Watkins obtained her permission to break the front door's glass to obtain entry into the store. (R 1050) Upon entering the store, he observed that the door to the back room was open one inch and the light in the that room was on. (R 1051) The deputy pushed the door open, meeting with some resistance, and found the victim, the store manager Ruth McCollum, blocking the doorway. (R 1051-1053) McCollum was lying on her back, naked from the waste down, with blood coming out of the back of her head and her neck. (R 1052-1053) She was breathing and moaning slightly. (R 1053) Watkins also observed a paring knife beside the victim's head. (R 1052)

Deputy Watkins called for the rescue service. (R 1053) Meanwhile, he attempted to slow down the victim's bleeding. (R 1053)

a.m. (R 1061-1065) The paramedic observed the victim lying on her back. (R 1066) The rigid position of her limbs indicated that she was suffering from brain trauma and pressure inside her skull. (R 1066) The victim was making snoring sounds in an effort to breathe and her tongue was swollen blocking her air

passageway. (R 1067-1068) The swollen tongue indicated internal bleeding. (R 1069) The paramedic heard breath sounds in both lungs. (R 1068) The victim had a puncture wound on each side of her larynx and swelling of her entire scalp and eyes. (R 1069, 1074) The paramedic noted that the victim had no response to painful stimuli, and therefore was not in pain at the time of his treatment. (R 1084-1085) The victim was removed from the scene and taken to Putnam County Hospital. (R 1079)

At the hospital, McCollum was treated by emergency room physician Robert Brown. (R 1346-1350) The victim was brought into the emergency room at 9:23 a.m. with massive swelling and contusions to her face, skull, and neck. (R 1350) She also had stab wounds to her and was having difficulty breathing. (R 1350) The doctor intubated her immediately and initiated three more IV's (in addition to what the paramedic had already established (R 1351), giving her a total of ten pints of O negative blood. (R 234, 236, 241) The victim had a fractured mandible and three stab wounds, one in the center of the neck and two in the lower aspect of the neck. (R 1353-1354) Dr. Brown determined that Putnam County Hospital could not adequately treat the victim, so he arranged for her to be transferred to Shands Hospital in Gainesville. (R 1352-1353)

When Ruth McCollum arrived at Shands Hospital, she did not have breath sounds on either side of her chest. (R 1433-1434) Part of a lung had collapsed, requiring chest tubes to be inserted to expand the lungs. (R 1434-1436) Dr. Kirby Bland, a

surgeon at Shands, made incisions in both sides of the victim's neck to explore the knife wounds and to control bleeding. (R 1439) The doctor was able to control her bleeding, but the victim was comatose and had less than a five percent chance of recovery. (R 1443-1445) The doctor also diagnosed another knife injury causing a laceration on the lower part of her left eye. (R 1447) McCollum died at the hospital six days later, after the surgeon and the victim's son had agreed on a "do not resuscitate" course of action. (R 1459-1460) The cause of death was severe brain damage. (R 1476) The head injuries were caused by multiple blows. (R 1473) A doctor opined that the knife wounds and strangulation contributed to the death since, because of those injuries, some medical treatment was unable to be performed and oxygen was reduced to the brain. (R 1476)

After leaving the Handy Way store in the victim's car, the defendant went to the house of his girlfriend, Jane Betts, who was the mother of his daughter. (R 1131-1132, 1134) The defendant told Betts that he was in trouble. (R 1135) He admitted robbing the Handy Way store, telling Betts that when he went into the store, McCollum was there. The defendant stated that he knocked the victim down and hit, kicked, and stabbed her with a knife kept at the store. (R 1136) He said that he was going to Jacksonville to borrow some money and to cash some lottery tickets and that he would return for Betts and their daughter later that day to leave town and return to North Carolina. (R 1137)

Betts testified that Barry Randolph was very nice and worked regularly when they had previously lived in North
Carolina. (R 1149) When they moved to Palatka, the defendant got in with the wrong crowd, became addicted to crack cocaine, and changed altogether. (R 1146-1149) On the morning of the incident, she did not believe that the defendant appeared to be on crack cocaine, but she did not know whether the defendant had ingested any cocaine between 11:00 p.m. the night before and 6:00 a.m. the morning of the incident. (R 1150-1151, 1154-1155) In response to a question of the state attorney, Betts stated that the defendant did not act remorseful or ashamed. (R 1150-1151)
The defendant's objection to this comment was sustained but the court refused to grant a mistrial and stated that a curative instruction would only draw attention to the comment. (R 1151-1153)

The Jacksonville police arrested the defendant without incident at the Sav-A-Lot store in Jacksonville where the defendant was waiting for the manager to advance him some money. (R 1136-1137, 1175-1183, 1216-1217, 1223) They recovered the victim's vehicle in the parking lot of the store. (R 1216, 1219)

Detectives Hord and Brown of the Putnam County
Sheriff's interviewed the defendant at the Jacksonville Sheriff's
Department. (R 1192) He also added to and amended his statement
later during the ride back to Putnam County. (R 1233) After a
waiver of his rights, the defendant indicated that he rode his
bicycle to the Handy Way store with a toy gun (which he later hid

behind the store). (R 1197, 1234) Randolph said he knew the routine at the store, having worked there, and he knew there should be approximately \$1000 in the safe. (R 1197-1198) The defendant knew the combination to the safe. (R 1198, 1234) He planned on going into the store unseen, opening the safe, removing the money, and leaving while the manager was outside checking the gas tanks. (R 1198, 1234) However, when the defendant went into the store, the manager was there and saw him. (R 1198, 1234) When she saw him, he knew he had no choice, so he rushed her. (R 1198) The victim panicked and started to struggle with the defendant. (R 1198, 1235) The defendant indicated that the victim was much tougher than he had expected, but that he was finally able to get her into the back room, where he hit her with his hands and fists until she quit yelling. (R 1198, 1235)

After pulling the security camera down so that he could not be identified, the defendant tried unsuccessfully to open the store safe. (R 1199, 1235) When the victim started moving again, the defendant went back to the back room, where the victim pulled the draw string out of his jacket. (R 534) The defendant grabbed the string from the victim and choked her with it until she stopped struggling. (R 1235)

The defendant then looked for and found a slip of paper which contained the combination to the safe. (R 1235) Again unsuccessful in opening the safe (even with the correct combination), the defendant opted to instead take lottery tickets, which he put into his bag. (R 1235)

The victim started screaming again and the defendant again hit her and kicked her. (R 1235) Since she was still trying to fight him and was making noise, the defendant grabbed a small knife and stabbed her. (R 1235-1236) In order to make it appear as if someone else had done this ("a maniac"), the defendant took off the victim's pants and masturbated until he was ready to ejaculate. (R 534, 1236) Then, he got on top of victim and ejaculated inside of her. (R 1236)

Since people were gathering outside the store, the defendant emptied the victim's purse, and took her car keys to effectuate his escape. (R 1235-1236) When he left, the victim was no longer moving. (R 1236) He took a Handy Way jacket, put it on, and left the store, locking the door behind him. (R 1236)

He drove off in the victim's car to his girlfriend's house, before leaving for Jacksonville to cash the lottery tickets and to borrow some money from the manager of the Sav-A-Lot store. (R 1236, 1238) On the way to Jacksonville, Randolph stopped at a few convenience stores and at a McDonald's where he cashed the winning lottery tickets, and disposed of his clothing and losing tickets. (R 1237-1238) The defendant, on the return trip to Palatka, directed the detectives to the convenience stores and to the McDonald's, where the police recovered the lottery tickets and the blood-stained clothing and tennis shoes. (R 1201-1211) The defendant indicated to the detective that he was remorseful for what had happened. (R 1214)

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