IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD BARRY RANDOLPH,

DEC 21 1989

Appellant,

DEBUTY GARR

v.

CASE NO. 74,083

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PUTNAM COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SEAN DALY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #281948 210 N. Palmetto Ave. Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4996

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excusing, for cause, a juror whose ability to impose the death penalty in accordance with the law was substantially impaired. The trial judge's decision after evaluating the demeanor and credibility of the juror was proper.

<u>POINT 11</u>: The trial court did not abuse it discretion in denying Randolph's motion for individual and sequestered voir dire. The appellant's challenge to the trial court's denial of his mistrial motion with reference to an allegedly prejudicial juror comment at voir dire was untimely and did not preserve the issue. In any event the court was not prejudicial and no error so prejudicial as to irritate the entire trial has been shown. No abuse of discretion has been demonstrated.

<u>POINT 111</u>: Randolph's sufficiency of the evidence challenge to this non-capital sexual battery count has not been preserved for review. The evidence addressed was sufficient to prove the sexual battery charge, pursuant to clear legislative intent.

<u>POINT IV</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying a mistrial motion based upon proper prosecutorial argument in response to improper defense argument. Specifically as to the cause of the victim's death. Even if the argument was improper it was clearly harmless under the circumstances of this case.

<u>POINT V</u>: The prosecutor's fleeting reference to the defendant's lack of remorse in questioning was proper response to defense counsel's cross-examination. Even assuming

impropriety the error was harmless under the circumstances of this case.

POINT VI: Randolph's challenge to the admission of photographic evidence in the penalty phase has not been preserved for review. Alternately, no abuse of discretion or reversible error has been demonstrated in the use of the photographs or the introduction of expert medical testimony refuting previous improper argument by defenses counsel.

POINT VII: The trial court did not err in rejecting Randolph's requested jury instruction listing alleged non-statutory mitigating factors in favor of the standard jury instruction.

<u>POINT VIII</u>: Randolph's challenge to the alleged non-statutorial appellate review procedures applied by this Court in death cases has not been preserved for review and is, in any event, meritless.

<u>POINT IX</u>: This court has already rejected appellant's vagueness challenge to the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor.

POINT X: The trial court properly applied Florida's capital sentencing statute in finding from aggravating factors; rejecting the statutory mitigating factors argued, and in weighing the aggravating factors against the non-statutory mitigating factors argued in determined that death was the appropriate penalty. The sentencing court considered all mitigating evidence, statutory and non-statutory, and properly determined that a number of non-statutory mitigating factors

existed in that they were of little weight and that any single one of the aggravating factors outweighed all the mitigating. The sentence imposed is not disproportionate under the circumstances.

POINT X: Randolph's time worn constitutional challenges to the death penalty statutes were not preserved for appellate review, and are without merit.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCUSING A PROSPECTIVE JUROR FOR CAUSE BASED UPON THE COURT'S DETERMINATION, AFTER ANALYSIS OF RESPONSES AND DEMEANOR, THAT THE JUROR'S ABILITY TO IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY UNDER THE LAW WAS SUBSTANTIALLY IMPAIRED.

Randolph's assertion that prospective juror Hampton "stated clearly" that she could consider and vote to impose the death penalty is simply unsupported by the record and contrary to the factual determination made by the trial court judge after evaluating Ms. Hampton's demeanor and responses.

The trial judge clearly indicated that his decision to excuse the prospective juror for cause was based upon her specific responses and his factual conclusion, after noting that she "vaccilated badly", that she "couldn't do it" if asked to impose the death penalty. (R 974-975) This determination is supported by competent substantial evidence of record and was clearly based, at least in part, upon an evaluation by the trial court of the demeanor and forthrightness of the victim in her responses (an evaluation that can clearly be made only by the on-the-scene fact-finder) and that factual determination should not now be second-guessed by this appellate tribunal. This court has held that it will pay great deference to a trial judge's finding as to juror impartiality because he, unlike a reviewing court, is in a position to observe this juror's demeanor and credibility. Lambrix v. State, 494 So.2d

1143, 1146 (Fla. 1986); <u>Valle v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 796, 804 (Fla. 1985).

In Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 423-426, 105 S.Ct. 844, 852-853, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985), the Supreme Court stated that determinations of jury bias "cannot be reduced to question-andanswer sessions" and that because of the variability in factors "there will be situations where the trial judge is left with a definite impression that a prospective juror would be unable to faithfully and impartially apply the law...this is why deference must be paid to the trial judge who sees and hears the juror." The Witt Court affirmed a cause excusal upon a Witherspoon basis that was far less clear than that which existed in this case, finding substantial impairment upon a prospective juror's simple assertion that she thought it would impair her judgment in part because the trial court in its assessment of bias "aided as it undoubtedly was by its assessment of Colby's demeanor was entitled to resolve [the ambiguity in the juror's responses) in favor of the State". 105 S.Ct. at 857, 469 U.S. at 434. Analyzing the cause excusal in this case in light of Witt, the trial judge had ample basis for his conclusion that Ms. Hampton's opposition to the death penalty constituted a substantial impairment, i.e., created a substantial interference or obstacle with the ability to follow the law and impose that penalty under appropriate circumstances.

Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968).

As this Court has repeatedly noted, the determination of juror impartiality and the propriety of excusal of prospective jurors for cause is a matter particularly within the trial court's broad discretion and it is only where manifest error is demonstrated by the complainant that the judge's decision will be disturbed on appeal. <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1987); <u>Hooper v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1985); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1984); <u>Christopher v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 198 (Fa. 1981). Indeed, as this Court noted in <u>Cook v. State</u>, 542 So.2d 964, 969 (Fla. 1989):

There is hardly any area of the law in which the trial judge is given more discretion than in ruling on challenges of jurors for cause. Appellate courts consistently recognize that the trial judge who is present during voir dire is in a far superior position to properly evaluate the responses to the questions propounded to the jurors....

Applying that abuse of discretion standard to this case, it cannot be said that no reasonable person/judge would have accepted the cause challenge after evaluating the juror's demeanor and the substance of her responses in the context in which they were made. See, Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 so.2d 1197, 1202-1203, (Fla. 1980). This is expecially true given this Court's indication that if there is a basis for any reasonable doubt as to any juror possessing the state of mind which will enable him to reach an impartial verdict based solely on the law and evidence than he should be excused on motion of a party. Hamilton v. State, 547 So.2d 630, 632 (Fla. 1989); Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7, 23-24 (Fla. 1959).

The prosecutor after preliminary questioning of the prospective jury with reference to their death penalty views asked the jurors if there was anything that they wished to say with reference to the issue, at which point jurors Trevora and Hampton voluntarily singled themselves out from the rest of the venire in indicating their opposition to the death penalty:

MR. TANNER: Would any of you like to -- to say anything?

Miss Trevora, I appreciate your courage. Please don't be shy to speak up.

Now, what would you like to say, or ask me?

A VENIREMAN: I don't have good feelings about the death penalty at all, and I'm not sure that I could do that.

MR. TANNER: Okay. And there are a significant number of citizens who have those same reservations. Nothing to be embarrassed about or ashamed of at all.

Could you set aside any reservations you might have during the guilt or innocence phase of the trial, where you're simply deciding guilt or innocence, knowing that if you -- if you found the Defendant guilty of murder in the first degree you might have to get to the death penalty issue later?

A VENIREMAN: Yeah. I'm an honest person, and I could put it -- I could put it away long enough to get through that part. It's the second part I don't know if I could cope with or not.

MR. TANNER: Okay. Well, you know, both sides are entitled to jurors from the community, not people that all just think alike. So nothing to be embarrassed about. We want a cross section of all the people, not just a few.

Would you refuse to vote in favor of the death penalty in every case, in every circumstance?

A VENIREMAN: I think so.

MR. TANNER: Okay. In other words, you would -- you don't believe that you would ever be able to vote in favor of the death penalty?

A VENIREMAN: I don't think so.

MR. TANNER: Do any of the other jurors feel that way?

A VENIREMAN: Yes.

THE VENIRE: No.

MR. TANNER: Mrs. Hampton, I saw kind of a yes. Do you feel that way?

A VENIREMAN: Yes.

MR. TANNER: Let me just ask you some questions to be sure I understand what you've said, and His Honor and Mr. Pearl also understand you.

Are you saying, Mrs. Hampton, that really you could never vote for the death penalty in any case; is that what you're saying?

A VENIREMAN: It would really be against my will.

MR. TANNER: It would be against your personal -- personal standards?

A VENIREMAN: Yes.

MR. TANNER: Does anyone else feel that way among the remaining jurors?

A VENIREMAN: No.

THE VENIRE: No.

MR. TANNER: Thank you. Thank you very much, Miss Trevora.

(R 941-944). In the exchange Mrs. Hampton revealed her true feelings about the death penalty noting that it would be against her will and her "personal standards" to ever impose the death penalty in any case. She clearly answered "yes" when the jury was questioned as to whether she believed she would never be able to vote in favor of the death penalty. (R 94). Despite defense counsel's later fierce efforts at rehabilitation, even after considering a multitude of worst case scenarios advanced by defense counsel in support of a possible death penalty vote, Mrs. Hampton at first again confirmed that she could not vote for the death penalty even in an "extreme case" (R 957). Indeed, only after vigorous and continued efforts by defense counsel to have the prospective juror re-think her earlier stated position that Mrs. Hampton finally capitulated and provided defense counsel with the answer he sought, an equivocal and obviously half-hearted "I guess so":

> MR. PEARL: Now, Miss it's necessary to ask you -- and you, Miss Hampton, in turn -whether your feelings about the death penalty, your reluctance, let say, to vote for the death penalty is absolute in every case, or isn't it really a matter of degree rather than absolute, something that is absolute in your mind?

> Let me give you an example, and let me ask you. Suppose that instead of Richard Randolph over here that you had already found a person guilty, as a member of the jury, and as you said you could do that if you had to regardless of what might follow, and it turned out that it was a Manson who had committed a -- many brutal murders

in California, or a Bundy, who it is said has killed perhaps a hundred women, or a Stano -- I represented -- who I'm sure killed at least forty people.

I'm talking about vicious, malicious, serial killers who can never be rehabilitated, they will be like a wolf loose amongst the sheep if they live.

Now, if you were faced with having to decide sitting on a jury that those people -- or Adolph Hitler who is responsible for twenty million deaths -- could you then under the circumstances that that was so heinous, so evil, so wicked, that the person involved was so little of a human being, that could you then vote for the death penalty in such an extreme case?

A VENIREMAN: No.

MR. PEARL: Miss Hampton?

A VENIREMAN: I hated mighty bad to hear of even Bundy being electrocuted. It made me sick. I didn't feel good.

MR. PEARL: Well, maybe you were thinking about all those people who were running around there with flags, drinking beer, and shouting, and otherwise cutting the fool, and acting like a bunch of damn fools out there. Is that what you mean?

A VENIREMAN: No, I just couldn't rejoice in somebody being electrocuted.

MR. PEARL: Yes, ma'am. Of course, no one -- I guess you understand that no one expects you, or any person, any civilized person, any feeling person, to rejoice over the taking of a life, no matter how well-deserved. That is not --

What you saw or heard about out there in connection with this fellow Ted Bundy was certainly not something that 99 percent of us could approve of. I'm not talking about that.

I'm talking about the necessity, perhaps, in certain cases, and limited numbers of cases, where that State must judicially, even if sadly, take a man's life because it is felt that that is the only appropriate response to what that person had done.

Now, I'm not talking about enjoying it. I'm not talking about getting out and celebrating when it happens. I'm sure that you, like most people, feel life has value, that any life has value, and that none should be wasted.

But still the question we come back to, that we must revisit, is the question whether in extreme circumstances could you then vote for the death penalty simply because no other punishment, no other response to the activities of the defendant would be appropriate?

A VENIREMAN: I guess so.

MR. PEARL: You say -- your answer was, ma'am, you guess so?

A VENIREMAN: Right.

MR. PEARL: Did I -- did I quote you correctly?

A VENIREMAN: Yes.

MR. PEARL: Thank you, ma'am.

(R 956 - 959).

Given Mrs. Hampton's at best equivocal acknowledgment that she could impose the death penalty only in the most extreme case and her clearly contrary earlier responses, it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion in reaching the factual conclusion that her ability to perform as a juror, in the

penalty phase of the trial, would be substantially impaired. That determination should be given due deference by this appellate court. Wainwright v. Witt, supra; Lambrix v. State, From the conflicting evidence presented the trial court could properly determine that Mrs. Hampton "could not or possibly might not be able to impose the death penalty" such that no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated. Masterson v. State, 516 So.2d 256, 258 (Fla. 1987). This case is clearly distinguishable from Chandler v. State, 442 So.2d 171, 173-175 (Fla. 1983), relied upon by the appellant, where this Court noted that it was not enough to justify a cause challenge where a prospective juror indicated that she "might go towards" life imprisonment rather than death or "probably would lean towards life rather than death if [the aggravating and mitigating circumstances] were equal." Id., at 174. The circumstances of this case are, instead, comparable to those in Robinson v. State, 487 So.2d 1040, 1042 (Fla. 1986) and Valle v. State, 474 So.2d 796, 801-804 (Fla. In Valle the prospective juror's in response to questioning on her ability to apply the death penalty included in her response that while she could not rule out the possibility she might vote for death she couldn't think of circumstances where she would. Id., at 803. In Robinson, two jurors equivocated about their ability to impose the penalty but clearly allied themselves with death penalty opponents. In both cases this Court affirmed the cause excusals noting that unequivocal rejection of the death penalty is not required under Witt. also, Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179, 180-181 (Fla. 1988); Lara v. State, 464 So.2d 1173, 1178-1179 (Fla. 1985).

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